
Environment and 
Community Panel
Agenda

Wednesday, 31st August, 2016
at 6.00 pm

in the

Committee Suite
King’s Court
Chapel Street
King’s Lynn
PE30 1EX



If you require parts of this document in another  language, large print, audio, Braille or any alternative 

format please contact the Council Information Centre on 01553 616200 and we will do our best to 

help.

LATVIAN
Ja Jums nepieciešamas daļas no šī dokumenta citā valodā, lielā drukā, audio, Braila rakstā vai 

alternatīvā formātā, lūdzu, sazinieties ar Padomes informācijas centru (Council Information Centre) pa 

01553 616200 un mēs centīsimies Jums palīdzēt.

RUSSIAN
Если вам нужны части этого документа на другом языке, крупным шрифтом, шрифтом Брайля, 

в аудио- или ином формате, обращайтесь в Информационный Центр Совета по тел.: 01553 

616200, и мы постараемся вам помочь.

LITHUANIAN
Jei pageidaujate tam tikros šio dokumento dalies kita kalba, dideliu šriftu, Brailio raštu, kitu formatu ar 

norite užsisakyti garso įrašą, susisiekite su Savivaldybės informacijos centru (Council Information 

Centre) telefonu 01553 616200 ir mes pasistengsime jums kiek įmanoma padėti.

POLISH
Jeśli pragną Państwo otrzymać fragmenty niniejszego dokumentu w innym języku, w dużym druku, w 

formie nagrania audio, alfabetem Braille’a lub w jakimkolwiek innym alternatywnym formacie, prosimy 

o kontakt z Centrum Informacji Rady pod numerem 01553 616200, zaś my zrobimy, co możemy, by 

Państwu pomóc.

PORTUGUESE
Se necessitar de partes deste documento em outro idioma, impressão grande, áudio, Braille ou 

qualquer outro formato alternativo, por favor contacte o Centro de Informações do Município pelo 

01553 616200, e faremos o nosso melhor para ajudar.



King’s Court, Chapel Street, King’s Lynn, Norfolk, PE30 1EX
Telephone: 01553 616200
Fax: 01553 691663

Friday 18th August 2016

Dear Member

Environment and Community Panel

You are invited to attend a meeting of the above-mentioned Panel which will be held 
on Wednesday, 31st August, 2016 at 6.00 pm in the Committee Suite, King's 
Court, Chapel Street, King's Lynn to discuss the business shown below.

Yours sincerely 

Chief Executive

AGENDA

1.  Apologies for absence  

To receive any apologies for absence. 

2.  Minutes  (Pages 6 - 11)

To approve the minutes of the previous meeting. 

3.  Declarations of interest  

Please indicate if there are any interests which should be declared.  A 
declaration of an interest should indicate the nature of the interest (if not 
already declared on the Register of Interests) and the agenda item to which it 
relates.  If a disclosable pecuniary interest is declared, the Member should 
withdraw from the room whilst the matter is discussed.

Those declarations apply to all Members present, whether the Member is part 
of the meeting, attending to speak as a local Member on an item or simply 
observing the meeting from the public seating area. 

4.  Urgent Business  



To consider any business which, by reason of special circumstances, the 
Chairman proposed to accept as urgent under Section 100(b)(4)(b) of the 
Local Government Act, 1972. 

5.  Members Present Pursuant to Standing Order 34  

Members wishing to speak pursuant to Standing Order 34 should inform the 
Chairman of their intention to do so and on what items they wish to be heard 
before the meeting commences.  Any Member attending the meeting under 
Standing Order 34 will only be permitted to speak on those items which have 
been previously notified to the Chairman. 

6.  Chairman's Correspondence  

If any. 

7.  Urban Facilities, Enhancement and Street Furniture  

8.  Norfolk Waste Partnership Work Streams  (Pages 12 - 20)

9.  Public Toilets Review - report to follow  

10.  Work Programme  (Pages 21 - 22)

11.  Date of the next meeting  

To note that the next meeting of the Environment and Community Panel is 
scheduled to take place on Wednesday 12 October 2016 at 6.00pm in the 
Committee Suite, King’s Court, Chapel Street, King’s Lynn, PE30 1EX. 

To:

Environment and Community Panel: Miss L Bambridge (Vice-Chairman), 
Mrs C Bower, A Bubb, Mrs S Collop, Mrs S Fraser, G Hipperson, M Hopkins, 
J Moriarty, P Rochford, C Sampson (Chairman), T Smith and A Tyler

Portfolio Holders:

Councillor Mrs Kathy Mellish – Portfolio Holder for Human Resources and Shared 
Services – Item 7
Councillor Richard Blunt – Portfolio Holder for Development – Item 7
Councillor B Long – Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder for Environment – 
Item 8
Councillor A Lawrence – Portfolio Holder for Community – Item 9

Appropriate Officers: 

Chris Bamfield – Executive Director
Barry Brandford – Waste and Recycling Manager



Ray Harding – Chief Executive
Honor Howell – Assistant Director

Executive Directors



125

BOROUGH COUNCIL OF KING’S LYNN & WEST NORFOLK

ENVIRONMENT AND COMMUNITY PANEL

Minutes from the Meeting of the Environment and Community Panel held on 
Wednesday, 6th July, 2016 at 6.00 pm in the Committee Suite, King's Court, 

Chapel Street, King's Lynn

PRESENT: Councillors C Sampson (Chairman), Miss L Bambridge, 
Mrs C Bower, A Bubb, Mrs S Collop, Mrs S Fraser and A Tyler

Portfolio Holders:

Councillor Mrs E Nockolds – Portfolio Holder for Culture, Heritage and 
Health.
Councillor R Blunt – Portfolio Holder for Development. 

Officers:

Chris Bamfield – Executive Director
Sheila Farley – Housing Services Operations Manager
John Greenhalgh – Environmental Health Manager
Ray Harding – Chief Executive
 
By Invitation:

Dr Ian Mack – Vice Chairman of the Alive Leisure Trust
Nina McKenna – Director of Culture & Communications – Alive Leisure
Simon McKenna – Chief Executive – Alive Leisure

EC14:  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Hipperson, 
Hopkins, Long, Moriarty, Rochford and Mrs Wright. 

EC15:  MINUTES 

RESOLVED: The minutes from the meeting held on 25th May 2016 
were agreed as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

EC16:  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There was none.

EC17:  URGENT BUSINESS 

There was none.

6

Agenda Item 2



126

EC18:  MEMBERS PRESENT PURSUANT TO STANDING ORDER 34 

There was none.

EC19:  CHAIRMAN'S CORRESPONDENCE 

The Chairman explained that he had received correspondence from 
two Parish Councils who were interested in taking over grass cutting.  
He explained that he would put the Parish Councils in touch with the 
Executive Director to discuss the various options available.  He 
informed the Panel that if they were aware of any Parish Councils who 
were interested in taking over grass cutting that they should make 
contact with the Council.

EC20:  LEISURE TRUST UPDATE 

Nina McKenna, Director of Culture and Communications, Simon 
McKenna, Chief Executive and Dr Ian Mack, Vice Chairman of the 
Board, were present at the Meeting to provide the Panel with an update 
on the work of Alive Leisure.

A copy of their presentation is attached.

The Chairman thanked the Leisure Trust for their presentation and 
invited questions and comments from the Panel.  The representatives 
from the Leisure Trust and the Executive Director from the Borough 
Council responded to questions and comments from Members as 
summarised below.

It was clarified that Alive Leisure was responsible for the day to day 
running of the facilities included within the Trust.  Separate to this Alive 
Management was a council controlled company.  The two boards were 
separate and Councillor Nockolds, who had previously sat as a Board 
Member on the Trust was now a Member of the Management Board as 
her Portfolio Responsibilities had changed and she would have had a 
conflict of interest if she remained on the Trust.

The Director of Culture and Communications explained that Arts 
Development was very important to the Trust and was one of its 
Charitable Objects and priorities.  She explained that work would be 
carried out to produce a two years Arts Development Plan and this 
would include looking to set up new amateur groups and work with 
existing groups to make them sustainable.  She encouraged anyone 
who was aware of any semi-professional or amateur groups who may 
be interested in working with the Trust to contact her.

With regards to the Oasis at Hunstanton, the Panel was informed that 
significant investment had been put into this facility, including the 
recent replacement of the air handling units which had improved the 

7



127

indoor environment and the refurbishment and reopening of the 
summer entrance along the Promenade.  The Borough Council had 
also invested Capital Funds into the facility.

Reference was made to a recent cancellation of one of the classes at 
Lynnsport and complaints that this had not been publicised had been 
received.  The Chief Executive of Alive Leisure apologised for any 
inconvenience this had caused and informed Members that there was 
a process in place for informing customers of cancellations, but 
unfortunately on this occasion it had not been followed.

The Director of Culture and Communications responded to questions 
regarding the scheduling of acts at the Corn Exchange.  She explained 
that due to the small capacity it was difficult to entice bigger artists into 
the venue as their return on ticket sales would not be high enough.  
The Panel was informed that work had been carried out to ensure that 
only high quality tribute acts and comedians were brought in and the 
Director of Culture and Communications commented that she felt that 
the programme had improved dramatically over the past few years.

The Panel was informed that the toning tables which had been located 
in the main gym at Lynnsport had now been relocated.  This was 
because they took up 25% of the gym area, however were not used on 
a frequent basis.  The toning tables were still accessible and people 
had feedback mixed views on the location.  New equipment had been 
installed in the gym at Lynnsport.

The Executive Director explained that the Council and the Trust worked 
closely together and he felt that the arrangements had been 
successful.  He commented that both parties were looking at extending 
what could be provided, including the Guildhall project which was a 
great opportunity for the Council, with the Trust as a key partner.

RESOLVED: (i) The update was noted.
(ii) The Trust continues to provide updates to the Environment and 
Community Panel on a regular basis.

EC21:  JOINT WORKING WITH NORFOLK CONSTABULARY 

Representatives from Norfolk Constabulary and John Greenhalgh, 
Environmental Health Manager (Community Safety) were present at 
the meeting to answer questions from the Panel on joint working 
between the Council and the Police.

The Chairman invited questions and comments from the Panel and 
responses and comments were provided as summarised below.

With regard to dog fouling, the Borough Council had taken on this area 
of work.  If an incident was witnessed, it could be reported to the 
Council and a witness statement could be taken.  Warning notices 

8



128

could be issued, or the individual could be prosecuted.  Incidents could 
also be reported to the Police, who would pass the information on to 
the Council.  The Panel was informed that work was carried out in the 
community and in schools to try and encourage people to clean up 
after their dogs.  Walkabouts in high problem areas could be arranged.

Reference was made to street bail and it was explained by the Police 
that this was where the individual was not arrested immediately, 
instead would be instructed to report to the Station at a particular time.  
This was used if there were serious issues apparent such as mental 
health issues or injuries.  It also depended on the nature of the incident 
and would not be considered if there was a risk of danger to the public.

The representatives from the Police outlined the new arrangements for 
the Safer Neighbourhood Action Panel Meetings.  A review had been 
conducted and the Meetings were now being trial run as surgeries, 
held during the day.  It was hoped that the new arrangements would 
enable more frequent sessions to be run and access to the sessions 
would be easier.  It was explained that Police Connect was being 
rebranded and work on improving the service would be carried out by 
the Community Engagement Officer.  Work was also ongoing to 
rebrand the website, making it easier to report incidents, and improve 
the flow of information available via social media.

Members of the Panel asked if the Police were able to attend Parish 
Council Meetings.  It was explained that it would be difficult for the 
Police to attend all meetings, but if there was a specific issue to be 
discussed they possibly could attend on an infrequent basis.  
Representatives from the Police encouraged Parish Councils to report 
any issues or incidents to them straight away, rather than waiting for 
the next scheduled Parish Council meeting as they would be able to 
investigate them in real time.

The Panel was informed that the Borough was a relatively low crime 
area, although there had been an increase nationally in hidden harm 
crimes, which included child exploitation and domestic violence.  The 
Panel was informed that hidden harm crimes were the Polices main 
focus at present.

The Police also undertook Offender Management, working with repeat 
offenders and trying to ascertain why they kept offending and work to 
change their patterns.

The Panel was informed that the amount of reported incidents of anti-
social behaviour had reduced, however it could be as more anti-social 
behaviour was happening online.

Issues regarding vehicles parking on pavements and blocking access 
to wheelchair users or people with push chairs were raised.  The Panel 
was informed that this was a difficult issue to control and the Police 
could not take any action unless it was considered to be dangerous.  

9



129

The Panel agreed that Parking Arrangements be added to the Work 
Programme and the Business Manager from the Borough Council be 
invited to a future meeting of the Panel for a Question and Answer 
Session.

In response to a question as to whether the closure of the Discovery 
Centre had made a difference to the amount of anti-social behaviour, it 
was confirmed that there had been a marginal increase, but the real 
test would be during the summer.  

RESOLVED: (i) Parking Question and Answer Session be added to the 
Work Programme.
(ii) Representatives from the Police be invited back to the Environment 
and Community Panel in a years’ time.

EC22:  HOMELESSNESS UPDATE 

Sheila Farley, Housing Services Operations Manager presented the 
Homelessness Review to the Panel.  A copy of her presentation is 
attached.

The Chairman thanked the Housing Services Operations Manager for 
her report and invited questions and comments from the Panel.

The Housing Services Operations Manager explained that an Insecure 
Accommodation Award was a method of giving a person high priority 
on bidding for available properties.  It was awarded if there was a high 
likelihood of the person becoming homeless.  The Housing Services 
Operations Manager explained that the team worked to try and prevent 
homelessness before it became an issue.  She agreed to provide 
information to the Panel on the amount of Insecure Accommodation 
Awards issued.

The Housing Services Operations Manager informed the Panel that the 
Council had a duty to investigate any homelessness issues which were 
brought to their attention.  The Panel was informed that the Council 
carried out a ‘rough sleeper’ assessment on an annual basis as part of 
their statutory duty.  With regard to people begging on the street, the 
Housing Services Operations Manager explained that these people 
were not always homeless and she referred to a recent campaign 
which had been run, which encouraged members of the public to 
donate to charities to help homeless people, rather than directly to 
people begging on the street.

The Panel was informed that the Council had a statutory duty to 
provide advice to individuals, but not necessarily a duty to provide 
housing.  The Council worked closely with different organisations and 
referred individuals if required.  She explained that if someone on the 
housing register was likely to become homeless, they would be 

10



130

referred to the homelessness team to try and prevent it before it was 
an issue.  She explained that the Council also had emergency beds 
available if required.  The timescale to get someone off the street 
varied, the Council always tried to act early, however there were times 
when the individual did not want to engage.

The Housing Services Operations Manager explained that if members 
of the public came across someone who they thought was street 
homeless they could refer them to the Council through the Borough 
Council’s website using the Street Link system.

The Housing Services Operations Manager referred to the future 
concerns as included within her presentation and the opportunities and 
solutions which would be investigated to address the impact of any 
concerns.

RESOLVED: That the Panel be kept updated on progress.

EC23:  WORK PROGRAMME 

RESOLVED: (i) The Work Programme was noted.
(ii) Items identified for consideration during the meeting would be 
added to the Work Programme as appropriate.

EC24:  DATE OF THE NEXT MEETING 

The next meeting of the Environment and Community Panel would be 
held on Wednesday 31st August 2016 at 6.00pm in the Committee 
Suite, King’s Court, Chapel Street, King’s Lynn.

The meeting closed at 8.10 pm

11



POLICY REVIEW & DEVELOPMENT REPORT

Type of Report: Review Portfolio(s): Environment
Will be subject to a future Cabinet Report: YES/NO
Will be need to be recommended to Council: YES/NO
Author Name: Barry Brandford Consultations: 
Tel: 01553 782074 Chris Bamfield

Email: Barry.Brandford@west-norfolk.gov.uk Nathan Johnson

OPEN / EXEMPT (delete as appropriate)

Environment and Community Panel

Date: 31 August 2016
Subject: Norfolk Waste Partnership Work Streams  

Summary
This report provides an update on waste related issues and provides a particular 
focus on the current work of the Norfolk Waste Partnership, Waste and Recycling 
Behaviour Change Programme and waste related updates.

Recommendations
Members are asked to note the report and make comments.

1. Norfolk Waste Partnership

The Council together with all the Norfolk districts and the County Council form the 
Norfolk Waste Partnership. The NWP was formed to help tackle and reduce the amount of 
household waste produced in the County. It has standardised the approach to waste across 
the County and via its officer groups is looking at continuing improvements to the County’s 
waste issues to help reduce the costs of dealing with waste across Norfolk as a whole. A 
number of research projects are about to start looking at options covering:

 Communications and behavioural change where Officers are looking at the recycling 
messages Councils are giving out and exploring ways to persuade residents to 
manage their waste in a more sustainable manner.

 Sharing facilities and assets. This links into the work being undertaken as part of the 
Norfolk One Estate programme where Councils could perhaps share facilities such 
as depots rather than operate them side by side as in some instances.

 Reviewing materials that could be added to the list of recyclables. This is constantly 
under review and is dependent on the collection method, the ability of the MRF to be 
able to separate waste streams and the presence of a market willing to buy the 
secondary material. This is influenced by global trading conditions.

 Reviewing waste  infrastructure  and collection regimes.  This project will examine 
collection methods and possible improvements to the current twin bin arrangements 
together with potential savings that could be made around a review of the collection 
regimes currently in place.

It is proposed to provide updated reports on the project work as it progresses through 

12

Agenda Item 8



this year. Although part of the research streams, the Council is not committed to the 
adoption of any of the outcomes of the research. Any proposals will be brought back to the 
Council.

2. Work Stream Details

Communications and Behavioural Change

The work on behavioural change was commenced by this authority and following a 
successful bid to DCLG and the award of £ ¼ million a scheme has been 
implemented by Local Green Points on behalf of the council.  This work has been 
extended by agreement to additionally provide a smaller scale project in each 
collection authorities in year 2.

This has been undertaken to embed the learning from the project across Norfolk.

Additionally the authorities are combining some resources, within existing budgets, 
to create a communications officer role to assist the councils with improved 
information for residents to assist in the best use of the services provided.

One Public Estate (OPE)

A Stage 1 grant award to the Norfolk OPE programme has been made by the 
Cabinet Office and the element which the Norfolk Waste Partnership has been asked 
to lead on is the examination of assets which are used for waste and similar 
operations.  The potential for savings by the release of assets and the co-location of 
operations, to reduce costs, is to be examined by officers.  

The funding is for feasibility work which is designed to be able to deliver both capital 
receipts and revenue savings some of which are reinvested in the provision of 
facilities for waste operations.  The outcomes may be significant and in terms of 
West Norfolk are only deliverable over the medium term.

The current contract for the disposal of residual waste, made by Norfolk County 
Council, have a detrimental effect on both efficiency and cost for waste collections in 
West Norfolk.  This arrangement runs until 2020.  Waste is currently being taken 
directly to Wisbech and the majority is being tipped at the Hamlin Way Depot.  It is 
then being loaded in to large HGV trailers for haulage to Wisbech at the expense of 
this Council.  The use of the existing depot for the additional processing of waste in 
to baled refuse derived fuel, similar to that which is undertaken currently at Wisbech, 
would save over £250,000 per annum and create a number of jobs in King’s Lynn.

The Hamlin Way Depot would need some construction and reorganisation works and 
fleet operations for cleansing and grounds maintenance activities would need to be 
relocated.  

In joint and collaborative working these operations can result in further savings with 
these operations being on a combined existing site at Saddlebow Industrial Estate 
shared with Norfolk County Council.  Opportunities exist particularly around fuel and 

13



vehicle maintenance and reductions in unit cost operations compared to running two 
separate depot operations.

Review of materials acceptable for recycling

The formation of a company controlled jointly by all of the District, Borough and City 
Councils in Norfolk along with Norfolk County Council and Norse Commercial 
Services to provide the recycling operations for the green bin collections allows 
flexibility in the provision of services and the Liaison Board, formed by Norse and the 
Councils can review the provision of additional materials which can be sustainably 
added to the range of materials already collected.

Current market conditions are less than favourable with some processing companies 
showing financial strain and others closing. However, the councils are committed to 
examining opportunities where the public purse in Norfolk benefits from the diversion 
of materials from disposal to recycling.

Changes in the price of crude oil and the value of Sterling against the US Dollar may 
create more positive sentiment and provide an improvement in the price gained for 
secondary plastic materials sorted from dry recyclables.  This may create greater 
opportunities to recover value and a range of plastics from the waste stream.  There 
can be very little certainty at this time and change is only likely over the medium 
term.

Review of infrastructure and collection regimes

This Council has the lowest collection costs of authorities in Norfolk and has 
benefitted from the changes introduced in 2013 in terms of cost and recycling rates.  
The potential to create further benefits from both the existing contract and any new 
potential arrangements must be kept under review to ensure the financial stability 
and sustainability of services.  A successful funding bid to the Waste and Resources 
Action Programme (WRAP) was been submitted.  Eunomia has been appointed 
through a tender exercise to provide assistance in a review across Norfolk and this 
council will actively participate in the review and shaping the outcomes.  The aim is 
to pursue options in detail which would result in savings to the public purse in 
Norfolk.

The review includes the following:
 Introducing separate food waste collections across Norfolk
 Maintaining services as currently provided or changing frequency
 Separate collection of nappies across Norfolk

The following issues must be addressed within the outcomes:
 Struggling communities
 Flats and bagged area collections
 Rurality and efficiency in collections
 Coastal Communities
 Urban and Suburban Collections

The outcome of the review will be a range of options for consideration by each 
authority and these will be considered by this council before being implemented.

14



3. Waste and Recycling Behavioural Change Programme

The Waste and Recycling Behavioural Change Programme is being provided by 
Local Green Points on our behalf.  The funding of the scheme is being provided by a 
grant from DCLG of £256,000.  Local Green Points was awarded a contract following 
a full procurement exercise.  The scheme was launched in May with both press and 
media coverage and each household was sent an information pack inviting them to 
join the scheme by mid June 3,000 households had activated their accounts.

The scheme design is to provide community rewards through gaining undertaking 
positive behaviours in terms of recycling well, avoiding and reducing contamination 
and reporting upon the activities predominantly through online activities.  Those who 
participate through online accounts receive monthly e-shots promoting activities and 
providing news on the scheme.  Officers help to shape the content of the e-shot and 
a segment is reproduced below.

Householders can sign up for the scheme at www.west-
norfolk.gov.uk/recyclingrewards. Each participant has the opportunity to vote for 
charities which may benefit from donations from the scheme as part of the rewards 
system and individual residents have the chance to gain personal rewards if they are 
the highest points earners within their area.  The scheme gains support through 
recognition of high achievers, the desire to compete and the ability to influence the 
destination of community donations.

Online activities, as shown below, are supported by press and media to show that 
engagement has positive outcomes and spreads the scheme wider.  Engagement in 
the scheme is designed to get householders to recycle and do it well and by doing so 
they see results through Green Point Rewards and that any barriers to recycling well 
can be overcome and gain belief that they can recycle effectively without support.  
Simply put is that we learn through doing and the more we do the more we learn and 
we can do the task without thinking about it.

15

www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/recyclingrewards
www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/recyclingrewards


     

Those who have off line accounts receive inform ation delivered through the post to 
keep them informed and involved.

The use of online presence can be used to maximise the potential for introductions 
and activations.  The most effective form of gaining sign ups for the scheme is 
through personal visits by staff to homes, as this is where the recycling is done.  
However, this is the most expensive form of initial engagement.  To be most effective 
there is a need to maximise sign up for the scheme.  Work is being undertaken to 
promote the scheme through the following mechanisms:

 Electronic and Static Adverts at council and Alive Leisure sites
 In bus adverts
 Agripa panels on refuse collection vehicles
 Parish magazine adverts

Additionally officers are distributing information leaflets as they undertake their work 
particularly where they are undertaking work dedicated to tackling recycling 
contamination.

The screen shot of the tweet shows how strongly people feel about doing well in the 
scheme and there is a need for strong personal and online support for the scheme 
including by Councillors and Parish Councils

It is possible to use the platform for the scheme to provide support for other activities 
including food waste recycling and this will form part of the work over the two year 
period of the contract.  The arrangements include performance related payments 
and robust monitoring of progress including an advisory panel of senior officers and 
the Leader of the Council.

The scheme delivered over two years has a number of performance related payment 
targets to incentivise the delivery of the scheme including:

 Number of householders signed up to participate
 Additional recycling tonnage

16



 Reduction in contamination of recycling bins

The use of the scheme is to have a long term positive impact on waste behaviours 
with an increase in over 1,000 tonnes per annum of dry recycling compared to before 
the scheme.  This provides financial benefits to this Council and Norfolk County 
Council.

3. Collections and processing of waste

Kier continue to provide services broadly within the expectations of the contract with 
the number of missed collections for domestic bins being 17 per 100,000 on average 
with the trend number falling.  The number of assisted collections missed was 6 per 
month against a target of zero; the trend is currently showing a reduction in these 
missed collections. 

The implications of the change in tipping point with the end of the contract between 
Norfolk County Council with Blackborough End Landfill site are still being negotiated 
with Kier.  The implications are both financial and logistical.  It is expected that 
significant restructuring of rounds will have to be made within the next few months to 
provide a settled round structure going forward.  The additional costs associated with 
the change of delivery point is subject to ongoing negotiations.

Recycling tonnages collected show an increase on the previous year with significant 
additional materials collected in the Green Bin but a modest decrease in food waste 
collected.  Easter holidays would not have made a significant effect on these figures 
and the weather and increased customer numbers would have impacted on the 
amount of garden waste collected in the Brown Bin.

Q1 
2015

Q1 
2016

Green Bin 3402 3572
Brown Bin 2859 3090
Food Waste 815 809
Clothing Bank 52 69
Total 7128 7540

4. Reject Materials in Green Bins

The most significant aspect of the service which is creating pressure is the presence 
of significantly greater levels on reject materials in the Green Bin than had been 
contracted for based upon professional advice. 

Since the commencement of the contract awarded to the joint venture company 
owned by the District, Borough and City councils along with Norfolk County Council it 
has been apparent that the levels of non recyclable materials placed in the Green 
Bin have substantially exceeded the levels anticipated during the commissioning of 
the service.  The level of reject material, as measured by weight on incoming loads is 
currently about 14%.  The expected level was 5% or less.  This has created pressure 

17



on the contract, which has not been aided by the fall in value of some of the key 
commodity prices since the contract was awarded.  Norse Commercial Services Ltd 
has accepted that it is liable for the losses associated with commodity prices of the 
secondary materials created through recycling.

Norse have sought to recover the costs that they have had to incur for the delivery, 
transport, processing and ultimate disposal of items that it was never intended 
should be put in the recycling bin.  Very detailed negotiations have been undertaken 
to resolve the dispute between the parties.  To measure the levels of non recyclable 
waste delivered in the Materials Reclamation Facility (MRF) samples have been 
taken from each vehicle and analysed by sorting by hand.

The main contaminant types are:
 Textiles
 Food Waste
 General Residual Waste in opaque sacks, bags and loose
 Recyclable Materials placed in opaque sacks and carrier bags
 Nappies

Trials undertaken at the MRF have shown that more than 2/3rd of the material 
contained within bags is non recyclable and seeking to recover any recyclable 
materials will retrieve about 200 tonnes each year but at substantial cost far 
exceeding its value.

Council issued clear recycling sacks are accepted and sorted fully.  The MRF 
operation is designed to accept and deal with council issued clear sacks for 
recycling.

The cost of reject material in the MRF is up to £200,000 based upon the amount of 
material delivered by this council under the contract.  The impact of the reject 
material is twofold.

Firstly, the cost of transporting and removing materials which should have not been 
placed in the recycling bin and their disposal has to be met by the council and the 
value of this is up to £200,000 per annum.  The amount of material is the equivalent 
of 100 refuse collection vehicles full of the wrong material being collected each 
quarter at the current rate.

Secondly, the presence of some contaminants has serious levels of financial risk to 
the contract.  To maximise the value of paper separated from the other materials 
collected in the recycling bin all paper is baled and shipped to China for 
reprocessing.  The material has a value of £700,000 per annum.  The Chinese 
market requires that all material is subject to inspection.  The inspection requires that 
a single bale of material is opened and inspected.  It must meet the following 
requirements as part of the inspection.

 Total Contamination by weight : <1.5%
 Food Waste : Absent
 Nappies : Absent

18



Recent survey work by officers from across Norfolk indicates that approximately 
400,000 nappies are present on the mixed paper line each year.  These are removed 
by hand where possible in the final clean up process before the paper is baled.

Where a nappy is found in the inspection which is undertaken at least every 28 days 
the ability to export the paper to the destinations providing greatest value is blocked 
and an alternative destination is required.  However, if the inspection required for 
subsequent potential destinations also finds the presence of food waste or nappies 
the ability to export material becomes extremely more difficult.

The risk is that the material which has the greatest value may be incapable of being 
marketed to the best available markets leading to financial loss to the joint venture.  

Export of material is also governed by the Environment Agency and a failed 
inspection at the port of exit may prevent the export of a specific shipment.

It is therefore incumbent on the council, along with others in Norfolk, to ensure that 
the number of nappies and other non recyclable materials placed in to the recycling 
bins are minimised.  To facilitate this the Recycling and Waste Management Team, 
as part of its specific work to minimise contamination of recycling, will:

 Promote the West Norfolk Green Points Scheme
 Provide additional residual waste capacity to families with children in nappies 

who need more or larger bins
 Promote good quality recycling to householders 
 Inspect bins routinely and where householders are found to contaminate bins 

we will remove the green bin collection and place them on a clear sack 
collection as this minimises opportunities to hide contaminants within the bin.

 With Kier operate the Red Tag scheme saying that we will not empty 
contaminated bins and the householder needs to resolve the issues of 
contamination or bagging of material within the bin before it is collected.

 Devise further schemes to reduce contamination in communal collections.
 Cease collections of recycling where bins are continuously and grossly abused 

by residents, without, necessarily, any compensating residual capacity.

Residents who have been approached and subject to intervention by officers have 
generally responded positively, in some circumstances but being told that your bin 
will not be collected due to gross contamination has not always been well received.

The approach is consistent with our policies on collection of recyclable waste.

Additionally, the Norfolk Waste Partnership are seeking to recruit a Communications 
Officer role with specific responsibilities of communicating key messages on 
recycling across Norfolk.

Further work is being done on mapping levels of contamination, along with 
contaminant types against communities. This information will then also be used to 
map levels of social media presence and interaction to see if an effective ‘on line’ 
presence can be established and who is engaging in waste and recycling themed 
discussions.  The information is used to establish the type of discussion, the location 

19



of the participants and their potential preferences and messages that are 
appropriate.  This enables targeted messaging and discussions to be held making 
them most relevant to the particular audience.  The intention is to make connections 
with those who may have influence and ben seen as trusted within the online 
community.

This form of engagement can be both cost effective and impactful if delivered well.

5. Financial Implications 

There are no financial implications associated with this report.

6. Policy Implications

None

7. Statutory Implications

None

8. Equality Impact Assessment (EIA)

None

9.  Personnel Implications

None

10. Background Paper

None

20



16/08/2016

ENVIRONMENT & COMMUNITY WORK PROGRAMME 2016/2017

25 May 2016

 Nominations to Outside Bodies
 Membership of Informal Working Groups (if any are in existence)
 Food safety team Annual Update – Vicki Hopps

6 July 2016 – meeting to be preceded by a tour of the depot at 3.30pm

 Leisure Trust Update – Alive Leisure
 Joint working with Norfolk Constabulary – John Greenhalgh
 Homelessness Update – Sheila Farley

31 August 2016

 Norfolk Waste Partnership Work Streams – B Brandford
 Public Toilets Review – C Bamfield
 Urban Facilities, enhancement and street furniture

12 October 2016

 Annual Review of increase in Licensing Fees (originally came to Panel in October 2015) – John Gilbraith 
 Grounds Maintenance – Scrutiny - Post Implementation of Grounds Maintenance Review (invite KLACC)
 Access to Rural Health Services Scrutiny – West Norfolk CCG

23 November 2016

 Parking issues – M Chisholm
 Leisure Trust
 Air Quality Annual Update - Dave Robson

21

A
genda Item

 10



16/08/2016

17 January 2017

 Norfolk Museums Service – Annual Update – Robin Hanley
 Capital Programme/Budget

8 February 2017
15 March 2017

 Annual Feedback reports from Outside Bodies
 West Norfolk Disability Forum – Annual Update

26 April 2017

To be confirmed

 Effect of wind turbines on the fishing industry and air travel industry
 Visit to the air raid shelter
 Visit to Crematorium
 Visit to Leisure facilities – Oasis and Downham Market Leisure Centre

22


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	8 Norfolk Waste Partnership Work Streams
	10 Work Programme

